IDENTITY OF PETITIONER & CITATION TO DECISION 

Petitioner Rose Townsend Trust for Donald Townsend 

("Trust") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals 

decision, Rose Townsend Trust for Donald Townsend v. Scott 

R. Smith, Washington State Court of Appeals No. 312038 (January 

23, 2014); Motion for Reconsideration Denied, March 18, 2014 

(copies attached).

INTRODUCTION 

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & 

(4). The appellate decision conflicts with decisions of this Court 

and of other appellate courts. The appellate court also 

misapprehended the facts and the law on three important points: 

(1) an expert is not required where a lawyer simply misses a statute 

of limitation- the Trust's only claim against Respondent Smith; (2) 

Respondent Smith was unquestionably a party to this action when 

another party--Joseph Delay--was dismissed, and Mr. Smith did 

not appeal from that order, so he is bound by it; and (3) the trial 

court never ruled "that without expert witnesses the Trust would be 

unable to establish that Smith breached the standard of care by 

failing to record the Assignment" - it never so ruled because the 

Trust never so argued. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that an expert was absolutely 

required in an action alleging legal malpractice for missing a statute 

of limitations? 

2. Did the trial court err in dismissing Townsend Trust's action 

before trial when Townsend Trust proffered evidence of the 

applicable standard of care via Respondent's own deposition 

testimony? 

3. Did the trial court err in not binding Respondent Smith to the 

trial court's earlier decision in the same action dismissing a co-

defendant on the sole basis that Mr. Smith allowed a statute of 

limitations to pass without informing his client? 

4. Did the trial court err in making no distinction between the 

necessity of expert testimony in this bench trial versus a jury trial in 

the context of a legal malpractice action, particularly where the trial 

court had previously ruled on the subject of an attorney's actions or 

inactions? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Respondent Scott Smith missed a statute of limitations 
while representing Townsend Trust. 

In this action, the trial court had earlier ruled as a matter of 

law that the Townsend Trust had missed the statute of limitations 

for an action against attorney Joseph Delay. (CP 280) The trial 

court left no doubt that while representing the Townsend Trust, 

Respondent Smith knew or should have known of the cause of 

action against Mr. Joseph Delay (CP 719-728) 

The Trust had alleged joint liability of Mr. Smith and Mr. 

Delay with regard to the unintended loss of a 1988 $83,187 

Judgment held by the Trust. (CP 67-68, 719-720) 

B. Attorney Scott Smith is bound by the decision of the 
trial court dismissing Attorney Joseph Delay. 

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the facts in stating 

that Respondent Smith "was not a party to Delay Curran's motion 

for summary judgment." Slip Op. at 12 n. 4. Mr. Smith was a 

named defendant from the beginning of the action. (CP 1, 51) He 

was also a party to the earlier motion to dismiss Mr. Delay from the 

Trust's action against both attorneys over the loss of the recorded 

1998 $83,183.37 judgment. (CP 109, 279) He received all of the 

memoranda and declarations, and his counsel was present at the 
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hearing dismissing Mr. Delay. (CP 279-281) Mr. Smith's counsel 

signed the April 29, 2011 Order Granting Defendant Delay, Curran, 

Thompson, Pontarolo & Walker P.S.'s Motion for Summary 

Judgment of Dismissal and Summary Judgment. (CP 281) Neither 

Mr. Smith nor the Trust appealed the judgment entered on April 29, 

2011 in favor of Mr. Delay. (CP 784)1 As such, the trial court's 

earlier decision (good or bad) was the "law of the case" or "res 

judicata" against the two remaining parties, the Trust and Mr. 

Smith. (CP 784) 

C. The Court of Appeals misapprehended the facts and the 
trial court's basis for dismissing the Townsend Trust's 
action. 

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the trial court's ruling 

in stating that the "trial court granted the motion to dismiss, 

concluding that without expert witnesses the Townsend Trust would 

be unable to establish that Smith breached the standard of care by 

failing to record the Assignment.'' (Slip Op at 6). The trial court 

never made that ruling. (CP 809-822) Indeed, the Townsend Trust 

never argued that Mr. Smith had a duty to record the July 2005 

1 The trial court stated in the April 10, 2012 hearing: The COURT: In 
reading, Mr. King's briefing today, I think it's entirely possible I made a 
mistake when I ruled as I did last April. But you didn't appeal that ruling, 
so we're kind of stuck with it. So that's the law of the case. That's res 
judicata on the Mr. Delay issue in this case, right or wrong. (CP 784) 
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Assignment of Judgment. (CP 51-68) This misapprehension 

further highlights why this matter should not have been dismissed 

in a pre-trial motion in limine hearing. The matter should have 

been allowed to proceed to the bench trial, where the Townsend 

Trust would have been allowed to further educate the trial court 

about the merits of the case by way of a trial brief, opening 

statement, presentation of evidence, cross examination of defense 

witnesses, and closing arguments. 

The Court of Appeals suggests that the Townsend Trust's 

malpractice claim centers on Mr. Smith's advice about gray areas 

of law in a complex federal bankruptcy matter. (Slip Op at 9) That 

is not the Trust's claim. The Townsend Trust's claim was that Mr. 

Smith and Mr. Delay were both responsible for their actions or 

inactions relating to the unintentional2 loss of the recorded 1988 

$83,187 State Court Judgment. (CP 67-68, 719-720) In paragraph 

5.2 of Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleged joint 

liability of Mr. Delay and Mr. Smith for the loss of the judgment: 

5.2 As a proximate result of Defendants' [plural] 
negligence and/or breach of contractual obligations, 
Plaintiff Townsend Trust lost the benefit of collecting 
monies from the Johnston State Judgment in the 

2 No one is alleging intentional wrongdoing on the part of Mr. Delay. 
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amount of $83,183.37, plus interest at 12%, 
commencing on January 22, 1998. 

(CP 67, bracket language added.) In the Prayer for Relief, 

the Trust claimed that both Mr. Delay and Mr. Smith were jointly 

liable for the loss of $83,183.37, plus interest at 12%, commencing 

on January 22, 1998 (when the judgment was recorded). (CP 68) 

The Townsend Trust is not alleging fault relating to the lien 

priority arguments pertaining to the other judgments at issue in the 

bankruptcy litigation. And, the "complex" arguments about lack of 

recordation of judgments in the federal matter did not relate to the 

1988 $83,187 State Court Judgment, because it had been recorded 

before any other judgment at issue. (CP 86-87) The Townsend 

Trust simply alleges that Mr. Smith missed a statute of limitations 

for a viable cause of action. 

Contrary to the appellate court's decision, this case was not 

about any complexities in the underlying federal bankruptcy 

matter-the standard of care for two separate negligent acts had 

been established: Mr. Smith himself set the standard of care 

regarding the initial negligent act by Mr. Delay (Mr. Smith testified 

at his deposition that the 2005 Assignment was "very poorly 

drafted" and had "sloppy language and drafting" by Mr. Delay). (CP 
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234, 241). Mr. Smith also knew that the Assignment did not reflect 

the intent of his Client (which was to add judgments, not exchange). 

(CP 234) Mr. Smith also knew that Mr. Delay had a conflict of 

interest in drafting the document for the Townsend Trust (because 

Mr. Delay was making a claim against the same debtor and the 

Assignment allowed Mr. Delay to obtain the debtor's proceeds). 

(CP 207, 246) Mr. Smith (Townsend Trust's attorney), knew that 

both the Townsend Trust and Mr. Delay were "creditors holding 

unsecured nonpriority claims" against the same debtor, and that it 

would be a conflict of interest for Mr. Delay to create a document as 

a favor to the Trust that essentially cleared the way for Mr. Delay's 

firm to get monetary proceeds from the debtor's estate. (CP 206-

214). Second, the standard of care as to whether and when Mr. 

Smith should have informed the Townsend Trust about the cause 

of action was set by the trial court in April 2011 when it ruled that 

Mr. Smith was aware of the cause of action while representing the 

Trust and allowed the statute of limitations to pass. (CP 280, 719-

3 The Trust presented evidence that the two trustees were never made 
aware by Respondent Smith of a cause of action against Mr. Delay, but 
the Court held that knowledge of a cause of action by Mr. Smith was 
imputed to his client, Townsend Trust. (CP 151, 194-195 
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In short, this case was not about any complexities in the 

underlying federal bankruptcy matter, because Mr. Smith provided 

testimony about the standard of care pertaining to Mr. Delay's initial 

negligence, and the trial judge set the standard in April 2011 for Mr. 

Smith's omissions when she implicitly held that Mr. Smith knew of 

the cause of action, had a duty to inform his client of the cause of 

action, and failed to do so. (CP 207, 234, 242, 246, 719-728). 

Moreover, the Court of Appeals has apparently overlooked 

that for the initial negligent act by Mr. Delay (the Assignment) there 

was expert testimony provided as to the standard of care for Mr. 

Delay's actions from Mr. Smith himself. Mr. Smith (whom this Court 

accurately characterized as a "veteran attorney") described the 

Assignment as "very poorly worded," with "sloppy language and 

drafting." (CP 222-223, 234, 241) He thus clearly indicated that 

Mr. Delay's actions fell well below the standard of care. 

Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals ever stated 

what an expert would be required to testify about concerning a 

missed statute of limitations. If the Court is going to require expert 

testimony in this particular context, as a guide for practitioners, the 
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Court should state specifically what an expert would have been 

required to state. 

The Townsend Trust, which exists solely for the benefit of 

Donald Townsend, a disabled man, deserves its day in court. (CP 

51) The loss of the valuable judgment, along with other massive 

legal expenditures related to Mr. Smith's representation of the 

Townsend Trust, has depleted the Townsend Trust's finances. (CP 

67, 151) 

ARGUMENT WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW 

A. The appellate decision conflicts with a decision of this 
court, applying an unheard of and incorrect legal 
standard. 

This is the first decision in Washington State holding that an 

expert is absolutely required in a legal malpractice action for simply 

missing a statute of limitations. Prior courts have held that an 

attorney's malpractice for missing a statute of limitations is well 

within the ken of lay jurors. The present case was actually set for a 

bench trial before the same judge who had implicitly ruled that Mr. 
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Smith had missed a statute of limitations.4 The Court should 

accept review of under RAP 13.4(b)(1) (conflict with this Court's 

precedent), (2) (conflict with other appellate courts) & (4) 

(substantial public interest). 

The appellate court has entered new territory in holding that 

an expert was absolutely required in a legal malpractice action to 

set the standard of care for an attorney who simply missed a 

statute of limitations. There is no Washington case - published or 

unpublished - so stating. 

It is undisputed that Scott Smith missed a statute of 

limitations for an action against another attorney while representing 

the Townsend Trust. (CP 207, 234, 242, 246, 717-728) The trial 

court had earlier ruled as a matter of law that Mr. Smith had missed 

the statute of limitations. (CP 280) In dismissing the Townsend 

Trust's action against the attorney who committed the original 

4 The trial court was not asked to make a finding in the earlier decision as 
to whether Mr. Smith was liable for the running of the statute of 
limitations. However, the trial court agreed with the moving party that 
the knowledge of the attorney is imputed to the client. (CP 207, 234, 
242, 246, 717-728) Mr. Smith did not file any opposing declarations or 
memoranda to Mr. Delay's motion for dismissal. The two co-trustees for 
Townsend Trust submitted declarations stating that they were never 
advised by Mr. Smith of a possible cause of action against Mr. Delay. 
(CP 151, 194-195) Neither party appealed that earlier dismissal of the 
co-defendant. (CP 784) 
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negligent act, the trial court itself left no doubt that Mr. Smith knew 

or should have known of the cause of action against Mr. Delay. 

(CP 207, 234, 242, 246, 717-728) On April 29, 2011, the trial court 

granted Mr. Delay's motion for summary judgment on the sole basis 

that the statute of limitations had expired (during Mr. Smith's 

representation of the Townsend Trust). (CP 279-281 ). 

The trial court stated as follows in the April 29, 2011 hearing: 

THE COURT: I'm sorry to keep interrupting you, but it 
seems to me if- so Mr. Smith is the lawyer. 

MR. HUNTER: Yes 

THE COURT: And Mr. Smith says, "Gee, I think this 
assignment of judgment was poorly drafted and could 
cause trouble for the estate." And he's thinking this or 
saying this, but he doesn't tell Riley5

, right? 

MR. HUNTER: Right. 

THE COURT: So isn't Riley's recourse against Mr. 
Smith and not Delay? And I'm not -- I'm obviously 
making no findings as to any culpability on the part of 
Smith, but why bring Delay into it? Smith is the one 
who arguably had the knowledge and didn't do 
anything. 

5 Jack Riley was the co-trustee for the Townsend Trust (CP 148) 
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MR. HUNTER: We think it's both is why we brought 
them both in and we thought that Mr. Delay essentially 
created the problem in the first place that-
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
(CP 718, bold added) 

Moreover, at oral argument in the Court of Appeals on 

December 3, 2013, Mr. Smith's Counsel conceded that an expert 

was not necessary in a legal malpractice action against an attorney 

who simply missed a statute of limitations. (Transcript of December 

3, 2013 Oral Argument at 17:09). This is consistent with existing 

Washington law. 

The Court of Appeals has misapprehended Walker v. Bangs, 

92 Wn.2d 854, 601 P.2d 1279 (1979), which states the general 

truth that a plaintiff can prove legal malpractice without expert 

testimony, "when the negligence charged is within the common 

knowledge of lay persons." 92 Wn.2d at 858. Contrary to the Court 

of Appeals' decision, the Supreme Court did not expressly "require" 

an expert in Walker. (Slip Op. at 8). Rather, Walker holds only 

that the trial court erred in not pennitting the plaintiff to present an 

out of state expert to testify in the maritime case, an expressly 

"narrow" holding: the "narrow question before us pertains to the 
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qualifications of an expert to testify in this case." Walker, 92 Wn.2d 

at 860. 

Walker - which followed a jury trial - found error in not 

allowing the plaintiff's legal expert (an out-of-state attorney who 

was not licensed to practice in Washington) to testify at the trial. 92 

Wn.2d at 860. The case was then remanded for a new trial. While 

the Court did comment that an expert would be "proper and 

necessary," that was not essential to the holding, but was dictum. 

/d. at 858. Walker does not support the Court of Appeals' 

unprecedented decision. 

B. The appellate decision conflicts with an unpublished 
decision in the court of appeals, a significant conflict 
that this court should resolve. 

By contrast, there is an unpublished decision in the Division 

II Court of Appeals that is directly on point for the facts in this case, 

but with the exact opposite ruling. Schmidt v. Coogan, Washington 

State Court of Appeals No. 312038 (July 2, 2008) (a copy of which 

is attached). While the Schmidt decision is not binding, and the 

Trust of course is not citing it as authority, it nonetheless shows a 

conflict among the appellate courts on this issue. 
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In Schmidt, the attorney failed to timely file Ms. Schmidt's 

personal injury case against the grocery store where the plaintiff 

allegedly slipped and fell. Her attorney, Timothy Coogan, had 

failed to properly and timely locate and serve the proper defendant. 

As a consequence, the plaintiffs suit was dismissed. The plaintiff 

then sued Mr. Coogan for malpractice. The plaintiff did not present 

any expert evidence. Instead, she presented the deposition 

testimony of her attorney, Timothy Coogan, who said at his 

deposition that he could not imagine a scenario where the 

attorney's failure to sue the correct defendant would not be 

negligent. Mr. Coogan did not testify at trial, much less testify that 

his deposition testimony was wrong. Mr. Coogan moved for 

dismissal on the basis that the plaintiff did not present any expert 

testimony regarding the standard of care. The trial court denied Mr. 

Coogan's motion to dismiss on the basis that Mr. Googan's 

admission at his deposition was sufficient to establish the 

applicable standard of care. Relying on Walker v. Bangs, the 

Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Mr. Coogan's 

motion to dismiss.6 

6 The Court of Appeals did grant a new trial on damages. 
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Moreover, the entire basis for experts being allowed to 

testify-Evidence Rule 702-- expressly discusses experts as being 

helpful, but not mandatory: 

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will 
assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to 
determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert 
by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, 
may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise. 

ER 702 (bold added). 

A judge is not a lay-person juror. In Watkins v. Sheppard, 

278 S.2d 890, 892 (1973), the Court stated as follows: 

Expert testimony is certainly admissible to establish the 
standard of care based on practices of attorneys in the 
community. In certain cases the opinions of experts may 
be essential to prove the standard of care an attorney 
must meet. In many cases, however, the trial court, 
which is of necessity familiar with the standards of 
practice in its community, is competent to make such a 
determination without the assistance of expert witnesses. 

This Court should grant review due to the conflicts it creates 

with supreme and appellate court decisions. This is an issue of 

substantial public interest that this Court should review, particularly 

in light of its plenary authority over supervision of attorneys in this 

state. 
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CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals has issued an unprecedented decision 

that conflicts with other appellate decisions. This Court should grant 

review.