RECENED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
May 22, 2014, 3:54pm 

BY RONALD R. CARPENTER 
CLERK 

NO. 90161-9 

SUPREME COURT 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

ROSE TOWNSEND TRUST FOR DONALD 
TOWNSEND, et al. 

Plaintiff/ Appellant, 

v. 

SCOTT R. SMITH, 

Respondent. 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

James B. King, #8723 
Christopher J. Kerley, # 16489 
Markus W. Louvier, #39319 

RECEIVED BY El.lM.IL 

Michael E. McFarland, Jr., #23000 
EVANS, CRAVEN & LACKIE, P.S. 
818 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 250 
Spokane, W A 99201 
(509) 455-5200 
(509) 455-3632 facsimile 
Attorneys for Respondent 

lJOR\G\NAL

I. INTRODUCTION 

In its legal malpractice case against respondent Scott R. Smith (Mr. 

Smith) petitioner Rose Townsend Trust for Donald Townsend, et a!. (the 

Trust): (1) failed to support its case with expert testimony establishing the 

standard of care and its breach; (2) chose not to appeal the trial court's 

grant of summary judgment in favor of another lawyer defendant and his 

firm on the statute of limitations, and; (3) delayed seeking leave to amend 

its Complaint to assert a new claim against Mr. Smith until shortly before 

trial. 

Because the Trust lacked supporting expert testimony, the trial 

court dismissed the Trust's case against Mr. Smith. It also denied the 

Trust's Motion for Leave to amend its Complaint. 

The Trust appealed. Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed 

by unpublished opmton, and denied the Trust's Motion for 

Reconsideration. 

The Trust now seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision. For the reasons set forth below, Mr. Smith respectfully submits 

that the Trust's Petition should be denied. 



II. COUNTERST ATEMENT OF THE CASE 1 

A. Allegation that Mr. Smith missed a statute of limitations 
while representing the Trust 

In an effort to establish its legal malpractice case as one for which 

no supporting expert testimony was required, the Trust re-characterizes its 

malpractice claim against Mr. Smith as one for alleged failure to comply 

with the applicable statute of limitations. However, nowhere in its two 

Complaints against Mr. Smith did the Trust accuse Mr. Smith of failing to 

meet an applicable statute of limitations. On June 2, 20 I 0, the Trust filed 

its First Amended Complaint for Damages [for legal malpractice] against 

Mr. Smith. CP 1-50. Therein, the Trust identified/articulated its 

malpractice claim against Mr. Smith as follows: 

3.3 Mr. Smith breached the duty to 
exercise the skill, care, and knowledge 
ordinarily exercised by attorneys similarly 
situated by failing to advise the Townsend 
Trust that by waiving the creditors claim 
against Daryl Johnston, the Johnston State 
Court Judgment would be rendered 
unenforceable, and by failing to advise the 
Townsend Trust that the unrecorded 
Johnston Bankruptcy Judgment would be 
junior to any other recorded liens or 
recorded judgments against the Johnston 
Homestead Property. 

1 The Trust's Statement of the Case reads more like argument than a recitation of facts as 
contemplated by RAP 13.4(b)(6). Nevertheless, Mr. Smith, in his Counterstatement ofthe 
Case, addresses the Trust's contentions in the order presented. 

2 



3.4 Mr. Smith should have known that 
the unrecorded Johnston Bankruptcy 
Judgment was not a lien that was first, 
senior and fully perfected with respect to 
any other liens. 

3.5 Mr. Smith should have known that a 
waiver of the Creditors Claim in the 
Johnston Bankruptcy proceeding would 
render the Johnston State Court Judgment 
unenforceable. 

3.6 Mr. Smith's errors constituted both a 
negligent act and breach of a contractual 
obligation owed the Townsend Trust. 

3.7 Mr. Smith's errors caused harm in an 
amount to be proved at trial. 

In a Second Amended Complaint, filed on November 10, 20 I 0, the 

Trust added as a defendant the law firm of Delay, Curran, Thompson, 

Pontarolo and Walker, P.S. CP 51-101. The Trust alleged that Delay, 

Curran, through attorney Joseph Delay, "breached the duty to exercise the 

skill, care, and knowledge ordinarily exercised by attorneys similarly 

situation by creating a document, namely the "assignment of 

judgment" ... which caused the Townsend Trust to forfeit its right to collect 

on the Johnston state court judgment. !d. 

The allegations of negligence against Mr. Smith in the Second 

Amended Complaint were identical to the allegations in the First 

Amended Complaint, although the Trust did add the contention that "Mr. 

Smith should have taken steps to modify the creditors claim from an 
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unsecured non-priority claim to a secured priority claim in the bankruptcy 

of Darrell Johnson." CP 51-101, paragraph 3.6. 

As recognized by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals, this 

case involved complicated and obscure issues of bankruptcy and 

debtor/creditor law, and that is why expert testimony on the standard of 

care and breach was required. To set up its argument that no expert 

testimony was required, the Trust now completely recasts its claim against 

Mr. Smith as one of simply failing to comply with the statute of 

limitations. The Trust's Petition should not be allowed to rest on this false 

premise. 

B. Argument that Mr. Smith is somehow "bound by" the 
decision of the trial court dismissing attorney Joseph 
Delay 

The Trust chose not to appeal the trial court's summary judgment 

in favor of Delay, Curran on the statute of limitations. Perhaps recognizing 

this as a tactical misstep, the Trust now attempts to somehow make Mr. 

Smith a party to Delay, Curran's Motion. The Trust contends that, because 

Mr. Smith was a "party" to Delay, Curran's Motion, the trial court's 

decision thereon became the "law of the case" or "res judicata" against 

Mr. Smith. Mr. Smith is unaware of any authority supporting such a result. 

The mere fact Mr. Smith was a named defendant did not make him a party 

to Delay, Curran's motion. Further, Mr. Smith's receipt of copies of the 
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Trust and Delay, Curran's moving papers, as required by CR 5, did not 

make Mr. Smith a party to that motion. 

C. Claim that Court of Appeals "misapprehended" the 
facts and trial court's basis for dismissing the 
Townsend Trust's action 

The trial court dismissed the Trust's claim against Mr. Smith 

because the Trust lacked supporting expert testimony. The Trust asserts 

the Court of Appeals incorrectly assumed that the Trust argued Mr. Smith 

had a duty to record the July 2005 Assignment of Judgment. But, even if 

the Court of Appeals made that assumption, it is immaterial. 

The Trust goes on to state/argue the Court of Appeals erroneously 

concluded the Trust's malpractice claim against Mr. Smith involved "gray 

areas of law in a complex federal bankruptcy matter." On the nature of the 

Trust's claims against Mr. Smith, the allegations contained in the Trust's 

First Amended and Second Amended Complaints speak for themselves. 

The decisions of Bankruptcy Court Judge Patricia Williams (CP 381-409), 

Judge Lonnie Suko (CP 425-432) and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 

(CP 434-438) further illustrate the complex nature of the bankruptcy and 

debtor/creditor standard of care issues. 

As it did before the Court of Appeals, the Trust argues Mr. Smith 

himself "set the standard of care" regarding the "negligent act" by Mr. 

Delay by testifying at his deposition in 2005 that the Assignment was 
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"very poorly drafted" and had "sloppy language in drafting" by Mr. 

Delay2
• CP 234, 241. However, mere poor drafting does not mean the 

document failed to comply with the standard of care. 3 

The Trust next argues the trial judge "set the standard [of care] in 

April 2011 for Mr. Smith's omissions when she implicitly held that Mr. 

Smith knew of the cause of action, had a duty to inform his client of the 

cause of action, and failed to do so." Not only is this speculative, it is 

contrary to the law. It is not legal malpractice to fail to advise a client of a 

potential legal malpractice claim before the client actually has a viable 

claim. See e.g. Frederick v. Meighan, 75 A.3d 528, 905 N.Y.Supp.2d 635 

(20 1 0). 

It should also be noted that the trial court's grant of summary 

judgment in favor of Delay, Curran was not based on any conclusion Mr. 

Delay had committed malpractice. Rather, the summary judgment ruling 

was on the basis of the statute of limitations, with the trial court finding 

that the Trust, on or before the expiration of the applicable statute of 

2 It is worth noting that, despite this testimony from Mr. Smith in 2005, the Trust did not 
seek, until its Reply Brief in opposition to Mr. Smith's March 2012 Motion in Limine, to 
amend its Complaint to assert that Mr. Smith was negligent for not advising the Trust it 
had a potential malpractice case against Mr. Delay. 

3 Joseph Delay is a Spokane attorney with 62 years of experience in real estate and 
bankruptcy matters. His many professional accomplishments include the Presidency of 
the Washington State Bar Association, a position on the Board of Governors of the 
Washington State Bar Association, and a listing in the Best Lawyers in America. 
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limitations, had some information a possible cause of action against Mr. 

Delay and his firm. (CP 1 09-133). 

III. PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT AS TO WHY THIS COURT 
SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW 

A. Claim that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 
a decision of this Court 

To set up this argument, the Trust, again, recasts its claim against 

Mr. Smith as one of failing to comply with the statute of limitations. As 

the Trust's two Complaints against Mr. Smith show, that was not the 

Trust's claim below. 

The Trust claims the Court of Appeals "misapprehended" Walker 

v. Bangs, 92 W n.2d 854, 601 P .2d 1279 (1979), regarding the 

circumstances under which expert testimony is necessary in a legal 

malpractice case. In Walker, the court described the circumstances under 

which expert testimony is necessary in a legal malpractice case as follows: 

This case involves allegations of negligence 
pertaining the trial tactics and procedure, 
matters frequently difficult to prove. See R. 
Mallen and V. Levit, Legal Malpractice, 
§345 (1977). Further, the case involves a 
maritime claim, a special area of practice. 
While expert testimony is not necessary 
when the negligence charged is within the 
common knowledge of Jay persons, we 
believe that expert testimony was both 
proper and necessary in this instance. 

92 Wn.2d at 858. (emphasis added) 
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Moreover, in Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 261, 830 P.2d 

646 (1992), the court declared that, in order to comply with the applicable 

duty of care, an attorney must "exercise the degree of care, skill, diligence, 

and knowledge commonly possessed and exercised by a reasonable, 

careful and prudent lawyer in the practice of law in this jurisdiction." 

Query how a plaintiff can establish the standard of care and its breach 

without expert testimony. 

B. Claim that decision of Court of Appeals conflicts with 
an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals 

The Trust argues the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts 

with an unpublished decision from Division II, Schmidt v. Coogan, 2008 

WL 5752059 (2008). There, the trial court held that no expert testimony 

was required where the defendant attorney waited until the day before the 

statute of limitation expired to file a premises liability case on behalf of 

his client, then named the wrong defendant. As a result of this error, the 

premises liability case was dismissed. Pursing a case against the correct 

defendant was impossible because the statute of limitations had expired. 

Coogan, the attorney defendant, admitted at a deposition that he could not 

imagine a scenario in which the failure to identify the proper defendant in 

a personal injury case would not be negligent. In holding expert testimony 

was not required in this situation, the Court of Appeals cited Walker for 
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the proposition that expert testimony is not required "when the negligence 

charged in within the common knowledge of lay persons." Schmidt at page 

2. 

Here, the Court of Appeals' decision was consistent with Schmidt, 

just as it was consistent with Walker. The trial court, and the Court of 

Appeals, held that because both the standard of care and breach involved 

complicated issues of bankruptcy and debtor creditor law, expert 

testimony was required. 

The Trust argues ER 702 "expressly discusses experts as being 

helpful, but not mandatory." But ER 702 does not trump the judicially 

created requirement for expert testimony in professional liability cases 

where the issues are beyond the understanding of laypersons. If it did, no 

expert would ever be required in a medical or legal malpractice case, 

despite the complexity of the issues. 

Finally, the Trust cites Watkins v. Shepherd, 278 So.2d 890 (1972), 

for the general proposition that, in certain cases, the trial court is 

competent to make a determination on the standard of care without the 

assistance of expert witnesses. Mr. Smith has no quibble with this basic 

proposition. If the alleged violation of the standard of care is something as 

legally straightforward as a lawyer's failure to object to clearly 

inadmissible - and damaging - evidence at trial, or, like in Schmidt, a 
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lawyer's failure to commence a personal injury case against the proper 

defendant, no expert testimony is required. But here, the alleged legal 

malpractice involved complex issues of bankruptcy and debtor/creditor 

law, requiring expert testimony on the standard of care and its breach. 

A logical extension of the Trust's argument is that expert 

testimony is never required in a legal malpractice action tried to the bench 

because, even in the most complex of cases, the parties can educate the 

judge on the law as the trial progresses. Following the Trust's reasoning, a 

plaintiff could convert any trial court judge into an expert witness in a 

legal field as esoteric as federal income taxation or SEC rules and 

regulations concerning mergers and acquisitions. Not only is this not the 

Jaw, but such a practice would place an onerous burden on a trial court 

judge. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Smith respectfully request that 

the Trust's Petition for Discretionary Review be denied.